1971

**Dora H. Stevens, Connie Joy Leigh, Jack Holt Stevens and Alice Dayle Esplin v. Colorado Fuel & Iron, a Corporation, For Whom United States Steel Corporation Has Been Substituted, and Employers Mutuals of Wausau : Brief of Appellants**

### NATURE OF THE CASE

This case calls for a review of a memorandum decision of the Honorable C. Nelson Day, District Judge of the Fifth Judicial District of Utah on a case arising out of the District Court of Iron County, Utah, said memorandum decision being dated the 26th day of July, 1969, filed by the Clerk on the 29th of July, 1969. This matter arose on a motion to dismiss and motion to strike off the defendant United States Steel Corporation, dated the 26th day of August, 1966, argued thereafter and taken under advisement for a considerable period of time thereafter. The motion to strike was not acted upon. The memoraudum decision granted the motion to dis-

miss, in effect saying that the amended complaint of the plaintiffs should be dismissed for failure to state a claim upon which relief could be had.

#### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

This matter was originally filed naming Colorado Fuel & Iron, a corporation, and Employers Mutuals of Wausau, a corporation, defendants, upon a mistaken concept of the factual situation pertaining to the death of one Albert W. Stevens who died as an employee of Utah Construction & Mining Company out of an accident that occurred on the 19th day of August, 1964, the death occurring the 21st day of August, 1964. This original complaint was filed upon a theory that Utah Construction Company was an operating Company for Colorado Fuel & Iron, and Colorado Fuel & Iron had failed to make the place safe for the employees of Utah Construction Company. Employers Mutuals of Wausau, a corporation, was joined, inasmuch as a maximum award had been made by the Utah State Industrial Commission on the death, and Employers Mutuals of Wausau was and is paying periodic payments on the death of Albert W. Stevens based upon this finding. Upon being apprised and ascertaining that the death actually occurred on a different operation from the original concept, plaintiffs filed a motion to substitute United States Steel Corporation for Colorado Fuel & Iron. This substitution was allowed by the court. Also an amended complaint was filed by permission of the court. A motion to dismiss of Employers Mutuals of Wausau was denied and said defendant was given twenty days to answer. Said defendant was so noticed on the 17th day of December, 1965, but no answer for said defendant has been filed to date. Although the default has never been entered, Employers Mutuals of Wausau is in default.

When it was ascertained that the plaintiffs' original concept of the operation on which the death occurred was erroneous, the Honorable C. Nelson Day granted a motion to file an amended complaint and motion for substitution of parties, allowing United States Steel Corporation to be substituted as defendant for Colorado Fuel & Iron, a corporation, and a voluntary dismissal as against Colorado Fuel & Iron was effected. Service was obtained on United States Steel Corporation who made an entry of appearance in the due course of events. The primary change in the amended complaint, in addition to changing the parties, was moving the site of the accident to the place where the accident that caused the death actually occurred. Albert W. Stevens, before his death, had been shifted to an operation of Utah Construction Company in connection with Colorado Fuel & Iron, in which Utah Construction was an operating company for Colorado Fuel & Iron, and the morning on which the accident occurred from which he died, Albert W. Stevens was shifted back to the operation conducted by Utah Construction Company either as an operator or as a tenant of United States Steel Corporation. The motion to dismiss of United States Steel Corporation filed in 1966 was granted in 1969.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiffs-appellants seek to have the Supreme Court review the trial court's action in allowing the motion to dismiss the amended complaint as served against United States Steel Corporation, and to have the act of dismissal set aside and the defendant United States Steel Corporation required to answer, and the matter go to a jury trial.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiffs-appellants are the widow and the heirs at law of the late Albert W. Stevens, deceased. The plaintiff, Dora H. Stevens, in addition to being a widow, is a dependent of said Albert W. Stevens, deceased. Long prior to the death of Albert W. Stevens, a subsidiary of United States Steel Corporation, to-wit, Columbia Iron Mining Company, owned and operated mining claims on the Lindsay Hill in the Iron Springs Mining District in Iron County, Utah. On or about the 13th day of December, 1963, said corporation merged with United States Steel Corporation, and at the time complained of, these claims were the property of United States Steel Corporation. Some of the records of Iron County have not been changed to show this merger, but since the 13th day of December, 1963, all claims in the Lindsay Hill area of the Iron Springs Mining District that were formerly owned by the Columbia Iron Mining Company have actually been owned by the United States Steel Corporation. This was the condition on or about the 19th day of August, 1964, to and including the 21st day of August, 1964.

On or about the 31st day of December, 1949, the Columbia Iron Mining Company and Utah Construction & Mining Company entered into a document called an operating agreement by the terms of which Columbia Iron Mining Company attempted to sell said Utah Construction & Mining Company ore in the area on said Lindsay Hill known as the Lindsay, Wanderer, Little Allie, Belgium and Cora No. 1 Lode Mining Claims, under the terms of which said agreement said ore could be removed and stockpiled and later sold. There was no obligation to pay for said ore until it was sold, and nothing was paid upon removal. There was a specific provision that any ore sold to Columbia Iron Mining Company

would be sold without a royalty having been paid on same, and Utah Construction & Mining Company was paid for removing the ore under these conditions by some method not set forth in the agreement. Columbia Iron Mining Company was the primary purchaser and purchased in excess of 95% of all ore so removed, and as a matter of practice, this amounted to an operation agreement whereby Utah Construction was paid for the removal of ore by Columbia Iron Mining Company. No co-mingling of ore was allowed in the stockpiles, even though stockpiled on property of Utah Construction & Mining Company, and only at the time of shipment was any co-mingling allowed. Also, the only time there was any payment to be due to Columbia Iron Mining Company from Utah Construction was in the event ore was sold to any other party in accordance with the royalty provisions. As a matter of practical fact, United States Steel Corporation was the only purchaser of the ore from these mining claims under said agreement, and as a matter of practical operation, said agreement was nothing but an agreement for the removal of ore, the property of Columbia Iron Mining Company, by Utah Construction Company. The reason for said agreement is immaterial as far as this suit is concerned.

In 1961, this agreement was modified, but in no way changed the principal agreement. Although said agreement contained a provision for the payment of royalty, as a matter of fact this provision was not effective until the iron ore was actually sold to someone else, and in the event the ultimate consumer was Columbia Iron Mining Company, there was never any amount paid under the royalty provisions of the agreement.

At the time of the merger, on or about the 13th day of December, 1963, United States Steel Corporation,

the defendant, took over the position of Columbia Iron Mining Company, and under those conditions became a party to those agreement directly. Since that time United States Steel Corporation has been the only purchaser of said mined ores under said agreement, and Utah Construction & Mining Company has never paid any royalty under the terms of said agreement. As a matter of practical effect, this agreement is nothing but an operation agreement by the terms of which the Utah Construction and Mining Company operated the area in question for United States Steel Corporation.

Albert W. Stevens, deceased, had worked for Utah Construction Company long prior to the merger. During the two weeks prior to the 19th of August, 1964, Albert W. Stevens had not been working in this particular area, but had been working in a different area for a different crew, still in the employment of Utah Construction & Mining Company. This was on the Colorado Fuel & Iron operation. On the morning of the 19th of August, 1964, Albert W. Stevens returned to the crew he had been working with, and was instructed to dump low-grade ore from the claims of United States Steel on low-grade stockpile No. 8. While he had been away from the crew, the end of this stockpile had been undermined. and there was a precipitous face on same approximately 80 feet in height. There were no safety provisions whatsoever for the dumping by trucks. The truck operated by Mr. Stevens had a gross weight of approximately 110 tons, and carried approximately 70 tons of ore. Normal procedure was to back this truck to the edge and hoist same, dumping the ore over the edge of the stockpile. On a normal slope, this was normally a safe operation. However, on a precipitous slope, this placed the entire weight of the truck on the two rear wheels within a few inches of the edge of the precipitous slope which had been undermined during the

absence of Mr. Stevens, and of which he had no knowledge, and on which there were no safety precautions taken whatsoever. The bank gave way and the truck cartwheeled down the slope with the cab being on the outside of the cartwheel, and Mr. Stevens landed on his head on the roof of the steel cab. He died from his injuries two days later. This particular pile of low-grade ore was the exclusive property of United States Steel Corporation under the provisions of the so-called operating agreement, and the pile contained no ore except that removed from claims of United States Steel Corporation. The ore had not been paid for under any operating or lease agreement by Utah Construction Company at the time of said accident, and there was no duty to pay for same until it was removed from said stockpile, even if sold to another party. As of the 19th day of August, 1964, no flags or warning of any kind were put into effect by either United States Steel Corporation or Utah Construction & Mining Company, or any person or persons working for either company as to the dangerous condition of the east end of said low-grade ore stockpile No. 8. No inspections had been made of same whatsoever by either United States Steel Corporation or Utah Construction & Mining Company. Had inspections been made on a regular basis this condition would have been ascertained, and had it been ascertained, reasonable steps should have been taken for the safety of operating personnel.

At the time of his death, Albert W. Stevens had been steadily employed as a truck driver by Utah Construction & Mining Company for several years, and on said date was approximately 54 years of age, and was steadily employed at a wage scale of \$3.285 $\frac{1}{4}$  per hour, working eight hours per day for five days a week. He was not at any time advised that said low-grade stockpile No. 8 was in any other than a normal condition, or

that a precipitous condition had been created on the east end thereof. Only one load of ore had been dumped on this day previous to Mr. Steven's first trip there, and this ore was not dumped over the precipitous end. At the time of the injury which resulted in the death of Mr. Stevens, qualified engineers and safety personnel were available to United States Steel Corporation on a permanent basis, within a few miles of said low-grade stockpile on which said accident occurred that caused his death, had said defendant, United States Steel Corporation seen fit to inquire as to the conditions under which these men worked.

The purpose of maintaining said low-grade stockpiles No. 8 was exclusively for removing the ore from same to answer ore requirements of United States Steel Corporation, and said stockpile was used exclusively to store ore removed from the claims of United States Steel Corporation. Said ore was being held in said stockpile for the exclusive benefit of United State Steel Corporation as a matter of practical effect. The removal of said ore was controlled by the ore requirements of United States Steel Corporation, and this ore, at the time of the injury and death of Albert W. Stevens, was one of the primary sources of ore for the Geneva works of United States Steel Corporation. At no time were safety inspections made by United States Steel Corporation. United States Steel Corporation, as owner of said ore had a duty to inspect to see that all employees were working under safe conditions. This duty applied to employees of contractors as well as employees of United States Steel Corporation. United States Steel Corporation did not perform this duty at all.

Almost immediately after the truck driven by said Albert W. Stevens, deceased, toppled over the precipitous edge of the stockpile, material was caused to be

dumped as a barricade several yards west of said precipitous edge, so that it would be impossible for another vehicle to approach said edge, but this action of barricading was not a normal precaution and was not done on other low-grade stockpiles or waste piles that did not have a precipitous edge as did low-grade stockpile No. 8.

On or about the 1st day of October, 1964, the Industrial Commission of Utah made an order requiring the defendant Employers Mutuals of Wausau to pay to the plaintiff, Dora H. Stevens, as dependent wife of said Albert W. Stevens, the sum of \$12,002.00 in payments of \$42.85 per week, commencing the 19th day of August, 1964, and continuing for 280-1/7 weeks. By the provisions of Title 35-1-62, Utah Code Annotated 1953, and amendments thereto, said defendant, Employers Mutuals of Wausau, is subrogated to the rights of the plaintiff for the amounts it has actually paid under said award.

Said agreement between Columbia Iron Mining Company and Utah Construction & Mining Company has not been revised since the merger. The price paid per ton by United States Steel Corporation has not been commensurate with the market price of ore of the same quality at the time of delivery, and the practical effect of said agreement is that it is an operating agreement for the mining of iron ore by Utah Construction & Mining Company as an agent of United States Steel Corporation. At all times, said mining and stockpiling has been controlled by the dictates of the Geneva works of United States Steel Corporation, and at all times the ore in said stockpile No. 8 has been the property of United States Steel Corporation and has been kept in existence and segregated as such primarily for the use and benefit of United States Steel Corporation at its Geneva Works.

## ARGUMENT

## Point I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS MEMOR-  
ANDUM DECISION OF 26 AUGUST 1969.

It is quite apparent that the trial court erred in this matter. Finding No. 6 shows that plaintiffs' attorney entirely failed to make the trial court even remotely aware of the position of the plaintiffs. This finding states, "The Court is of the opinion, and so finds, that the said decedent Stevens was not in the category of and employee of the United States Steel Corporation. All of the Utah cases appear to base the test of employer-employee relationship on the right of supervision and control. In this case there appeared to be none whatever."

This can only show the entire failure of the trial court to grasp the situation that the plaintiffs were faced with. At no place in any pleading, memorandum, or any other item, was the statement ever made that the decedent was an employee of United States Steel Corporation. The entire effort of the plaintiffs had been on the basis that United States Steel Corporation was a third person with a duty to make the entire area safe for the employees of its contractors under the provisions of Title 35-1-62, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, and amendments thereto. The test the trial court applied, and upon which it based its decision, was an employee-employer relationship.

The trial court entirely failed to make any finding whatsoever as to whether or not United States Steel was a third party under the provisions of Title 35-1-62, Utah Code Annotated, 1953. Although this was mentioned in Paragraph 5 of the memorandum decision as

the contention of the plaintiffs, there is no finding whatsoever on this point. Until there is a finding on this point, this matter is not settled.

The other part of defendant's motion for dismissal which apparently is not acted upon by the court, is that workmen's compensation award is a bar to recovery by the plaintiffs from the defendant. This is specifically contrary to the provision of Title 35-1-62, Utah Code Annotated, 1953. Cases are legion that the only person who is protected under this provision is the employer, Utah Construction Company, and may be found in *Johanson v. Cudahy Packing Co.* 107 Utah 114, 152 P2d 98, and various other items, and 101 Utah 219, which denies a rehearing on this case. This *Johanson v. Cudahy Packing Company* decision was approved and followed by the Federal Courts in *Jay v. Chicago Brides and Iron Co.* 150 Fed 2d 247.

The pleadings specifically alleged the death of Albert W. Stevens, deceased, to be as a result of United States Steel Corporation's failure to perform certain acts it had a duty to perform. The theory in the case of *Rugg v. Tolman*, 39 Utah 295 117 P 54, 57, which sets out the basis of justifying a recovery of exemplary damages to the effect that the act causing the injury must be done with an evil intent, has now been refined to a question of "Positive misconduct manifesting a conscious disregard of the rights of others and reckless indifference to consequences." This is set forth in *Wilson v. Oldroyd*, 1 Utah 2d 362, 267 P2d 759. This is also affirmed in the case of *Calhoun v. Universal Credit Company*, 106 Utah 166, 146 P2d 284. This has even been carried to the rendition of damages in a suit for trespass by horses. Punitive damages were upheld and allowed by the trial court and the Supreme Court of Utah in the case of *Powers v. Taylor*, 14 Utah 2d 152, 379 P2d 380, on the basis "Defendant's wrong persisted with an in-

difference to the consequences and to plaintiff's rights."

Certainly under the case at bar, we have a complete indifference to the consequences by failure to make an inspection and to make the place safe for a man to work and to handle this tremendously heavy machinery. Certainly, creating a trap of this nature, where a precipitous bank is made 80 feet high without support, with ore to be dumped over the end of it by trucks weighing in excess of 100 tons, in which the dump mechanism places all the weight on the back, demonstrates a callous and indifferent attitude for the safety of employees, and demonstrates an indifference to the consequences and to the rights of an employee. Certainly this is a reckless disregard of the rights of an individual, and evidences a wrongful motive as well as intent of indifference to the consequences.

The right to sue someone besides an employer for an item of this nature, where there is a duty on other people to make places safe for employment, is set forth in *Johnson v. Cudahy Packing Co.*, 152 P2d 98, 107 Utah 114. This case and the cases following it are leading cases to the effect that third parties may be sued under these conditions, regardless of the Workmens Compensation Act. In the case of *Rogalski v. Phillips Petroleum Co.*, 3 Utah 2d 203, 282 P2d 304, plaintiff was cleaning an employer's truck, who was a distributee of defendant, cleaning being on the premises of the defendant. Plaintiff fell off the ramp into a vat of caustic soda. Employer was covered by the Workmen's Compensation Act, and compensation was paid thereunder. In this case, the Supreme Court of Utah held that the action could be maintained against the third party, regardless of the compensation, and that although the compensation carrier had a right of action against the defendant, same was not exclusive, with the following state-

ment, "The duty owed by an owner of land to a business visitor is to inspect and maintain his premises in a reasonably safe condition or to warn the visitor of any dangerous conditions existing thereon."

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