1971

Dora H. Stevens, Connie Joy Leigh, Jack Holt Stevens and Alice Dayle Esplin v. Colorado Fuel & Iron, a Corporation, For Whom United States Steel Corporation Has Been Substituted, and Employers Mutuals of Wausau : Brief of Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

UNDER THE ALLEGATIONS OF THE COMPLAINT, APPELLANTS ARE LIMITED TO THE RELIEF PROVIDED FOR BY TITLE 35, CHAPTER 1, SECTION 60, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED 1953 (WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION).

Appellants must fail on their contention that the Respondent is liable under the doctrine of principal and agent or employer-employee, for the reason that under that theory they would be limited to the exclusive relief provided for by Title 35, Chapter 1, Section 60, Utah Code Annotated (1953). This section is as follows:

“The right to recover compensation pursuant to the provisions of this title for injuries sustained by an employee, whether resulting in death or not, shall be the exclusive remedy against the employer . . . and the liabilities of the employer imposed by this act shall be in place of any and all other civil liability whatsoever, at common law or otherwise, to such employee or to his spouse, widow, children, parents, dependents, next of kin, heirs, personal representatives, guardian, or any other person whomsoever, on account of any accident or injury or death in any way connected, sustained, aggravated because of or arising out of his employment, and no action at law may be maintained against an employer . . . based upon any accident, injury or death of an employee.”

The Supreme Court of Utah has recognized the exclusiveness of the Workmen's Compensation remedy provided by the statute. In the case of *Halling v. Industrial Com'n.* 71 Utah 112, 263 Pac. 78 (1927), the Court construed an early Utah Workmen's Compensation Law which was worded similar to the language in the present Code. The earlier law provided that compensation would be the exclusive remedy with the exception, that if the injury was caused by the employer's willful misconduct, a negligence action could be maintained. In setting out its interpretation of that act, the Court said:

“[Under Utah's law], it is only in the case of an injury caused by the employer's willful misconduct that an injured employee, or, in case the injury results in death, his dependents, may recover damages in an action at law for a wrongful injury. When the injury is caused merely by the negligent

act of the employer, the injured employee, or, when the injury causes death, his dependents, must be content to accept the compensation provided for in the act.”

Again, in *Masich v. United States Smelting, Refining & Mining Co.*, 113 Utah 101, 191 P. 2d 612, 616 (1948), this Court interpreted the meaning of a later law which reads similar to the present statute. The language therein used was this:

“Many decisions have indicated that the act operated on the employer-employee relationship, and that coexistence with the charge was an abrogation of the employee’s common law right to sue the employer for any and all injuries suffered while in the course of his employment, except in those cases where the employer was not subject to the act or the common law remedy of the employee was expressly reserved by the act.”

The exclusive remedy rule is not unique to Utah. Many other jurisdictions have recognized that Workmen’s Compensation is in lieu of any other common law remedy. For brevity reasons, we cite only from decisions in two neighboring states. The Nevada Supreme Court in the case of *Las Vegas - Tonopah-Reno State Lines, Inc. v. Nevada Industrial Com’n*, 81 Nev. 626, 408 P. 2d 241, (1965) construed Nevada’s Workmen’s Compensation Law as follows:

“Once it is determined by the commission or by a court that a covered employee has sustained a personal injury arising out of and in the course of his employment, compensation therefor is limited to that provided by the act.” 408 P. 2d at 243.

In *In Re Lockard*, 76 Idaho 506, 285 P. 2d 473, 476 (1955), the Idaho Supreme Court has given the Idaho statute a like construction :

“We have consistently held that the remedy provided by the compensation law is exclusive in all cases arising out of employment not excepted from its provisions.”

The foregoing discussion could terminate this brief if it were not for the exception which is provided in Title 35, Chapter 1, Section 62, Utah Code Annotated, which provides :

“When any injury or death for which compensation is payable under this title shall have been caused by the wrongful act or neglect of another person not in the same employment, the injured employee or in case of death his dependents, may claim compensation and the injured employee or his heirs or personal representative may also have an action for damages against such third person.”

Since compensation bars recovery against the employer, but not against third parties who are not connected in with the employment, it becomes important to determine who is an “employer”. The Utah Workmen’s Compensation Act Utah Code Annotated §35-1-42 provides the appropriate answer :

“. . . Where any employer procures any work to be done wholly or in part for him by a contractor over whose work he retains supervision or control, and such work is a part or process in the trade or business of the employer, such contractor and all persons employed by him, and all subcontractors under

him, and all persons employed by any such subcontractors shall be deemed, within the meaning of this section, employees of such original employer."

The same statute then goes on to provide that when the contractor is an independent contractor, he and not the original employer is deemed the employer within the meaning of the Act. An independent contractor is then defined as one who —

"Is not subject to the rule or control of the employer, is engaged only in the performance of a definite job or piece of work, and is subordinate to the employer only in effecting a result in accordance with the employer's design."

It is interesting to note that in this jurisdiction the same criteria is used in determining both the master and servant relationship under the act and the principal-agent relationship which Appellants claim exists between U. S. Steel and Utah Construction Company. For example, the Utah Supreme Court said in *Thiokol Chemical Corp. v. Peterson*, 15 Utah 2d 355, 393 P. 2d 319 (1964) :

"The line of demarcation between one who operates as an independent contractor as opposed to one who is the servant or agent of another is sometimes a bit blurred. This court has on a number of occasions confronted this problem and set forth various criteria to be considered in making the proper classification. The most fundamental one relates to the extended control by the one who hires over the one who performs the service. If the employer's will is represented only by a desired result, the indication is of an independent contractor; whereas, if the employer exercises control over the means of

accomplishing the result, this points toward an agent or servant relationship." 15 Utah 2d at 358.

This holding is consistent with that reached by the Utah Court in *Parkinson v. Industrial Comm'n*, 110 Utah 309, 172 P. 2d 136, 139 (1946) which discusses the exact meaning of the Workmen's Compensation Act and states:

"From these definitions it is apparent that whether a workman is an 'employee' or an 'independent contractor' is dependent on (1) whether the employer has the right to control his execution of the work, (2) whether the work done or to be done is a part or process in the trade or business of the employer, and (3) whether the work done or to be done is a definite job or piece work . . . The most important of the determinatives of the relationship between workmen and employer is that of control."

The Court again used almost precisely the same language in the more recent case of *Plewe Const. Co. v. Industrial Com'n*, 121 Utah 375, 242 P. 2d 561, 562 (1952):

"[Even though the relationship of the contractor to the company] 'might be characterized by some of the elements incident to the relationship of independent contractors' the test of whether the company is deemed the employer where the work is a part or process in its trade or business, is whether it retains the supervision and control over the work of the contractor."

The next two cited cases have indicated that where the relationship is found to be within the meaning of the Act, the sole remedy of the employee is Workmen's Compensation.

In the case of *Maryland Casualty Co. v. Industrial Com'n and John F. O'Brien*, 12 Utah 2d 223, 364 P. 2d 1020 (1961), the Supreme Court of Utah had before it a case involvting an independent contractor who was performing work for Dames and Moore in a drilling operation. The Industrial Commission had found O'Brien was an employee covered by compensation, and that was the issue before the Supreme Court. The important principle announced in that case is found in the following language:

“There is some dispute in the evidence, but more so as to the interpretation thereof, as to the facts bearing upon the relationship Mr. O'Brien bore to Dames and Moore. The latter, Soil Engineers, were engaged by the Utah Power & Light Company to do some testing to determine why its power plant at Castle Dale was sinking. Dames and Moore engaged Mr. O'Brien and his partner, brother-in-law, James Phizackles, to provide and operate a cable tool drilling rig and crew for drilling and sampling the soil strata underlying the power plant. It is to be conceded that as between the parties, Mr. O'Brien was not considered as an employee by Dames and Moore. They did not so carry him on their books, nor withhold any income tax or social security for him, nor make any other deductions from the money paid for his services. Nevertheless, there is evidence concerning the manner of carrying out this project which supports the Commission's finding that Mr. O'Brien should be regarded as an employee: the payment was to be made by the shift, rather than for a completed job; Dames and Moore kept a supervisor, Mr. Donald E. Nelson, on the job and he was there 95% of the time and perform-

ing that function; he fixed the length of the shift to be worked and determined whether they would work on weekends. He gave directions where to set up the rig and to dig the hole; how deep they should dig, when to bail out and clean the hole; when and where to take samples and when not satisfied to take a new one; when to stop and when to resume drilling.

“It is our opinion that this evidence, in the light of the rules hereinabove discussed, provides a reasonable basis for the conclusion that Mr. O’Brien was an employee within the meaning of Sec. 35-1-42 quoted above, and therefore covered by the Industrial Compensation Act.” 12 Utah 2d at 226.

A slight variation in the principles above discussed can be found in *Cook v. Peter Kiewit & Sons Co.*, 15 Utah 2d 20, 286 P. 2d 616 (1963), where the Court laid down the rule that when companies or individuals are united for a common purpose for their mutual benefits they each may be held employers and subject to the coverage and protection of the Workmen’s Compensation Act. The Coker Construction Company had obtained a contract for the construction of a diversion tunnel at the Flaming Gorge Dam. Coker entered into an agreement with the defendant Kiewit to pool their efforts in constructing the diversion tunnel, sharing in the profits and losses as a result. The plaintiff Cook was an employee of Coker and was injured in the course of his employment. He recovered compensation from Coker and then commenced a negligence action against Kiewit. There was little or no evidence that Kiewit in fact had any control over the actions of Cook as an employee of Coker. The Court, however, denied Cook’s cause of action. The Court placed

the emphasis not upon any element of control, but upon the fact that both companies were united in a common purpose or goal.

“Being so united for a common purpose for mutual profit, these companies became partners in a venture just the same as if two individuals had entered into it, and whatever one company and its employees did in furthering the project would enure to the benefit of the other. Accordingly, it would seem that Coker’s act in paying premiums for workmen’s compensation to protect itself against loss should also enure to the benefit of Kiewit and vice versa. It also follows that under such arrangement, the partnership entity should be regarded as the employing unit; and the employees of both companies as engaged in the same employment.” 15 Utah 2d at 23.

The Court then went on to point out that a recovery in such a situation would be in effect an unjust windfall to the employee or his dependents.

“Another facet of the situation which should not be overlooked is that to permit the employee to sue the defendant Kiewit under these circumstances, where it is part of the employing unit, would not be in conformity with the design of the Act insofar as the employee is concerned. It is obviously intended that in consideration of the *certainty* of compensation the Act affords him, he should forego the right to sue the employer for injury. Sanctioning this action will allow him in effect to ‘have his cake and eat it too’ by getting the certain Workmen’s Compensation and also the right to sue the employing unit for another and possibly greater recovery for his injury.” 15 Utah 2d at 24.

In concluding this facet of the brief, we reemphasize that Appellants have alleged facts and conclusions which bring them within the sweep of the foregoing authorities.

POINT II.

RESPONDENT DID NOT OWE A DUTY TO DECEASED TO MAINTAIN UTAH'S PREMISES IN A SAFE CONDITION OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, IF THEY WERE DANGEROUS, TO WARN HIM OF THEIR CONDITION.

The second legal basis which appears possibly raised by the Appellants' Amended Complaint is that the Respondent owed some duty to the deceased to keep Utah's premises safe; or in the alternative, to make regular inspections and if unsafe conditions were observed, to notify deceased of the danger.

For the purpose of argument, Respondent will take the position that the decedent may have been a business visitor for a limited purpose. However, that is just the beginning of the proposition and not the end. Conceding the relationship, it existed only as to Utah, and not as to Respondent. The deceased was an employee of Utah and the relationship of employer and employee existed. That would entitle deceased to a reasonable assurance by Utah as his employer that he was working under safe conditions, but it would not saddle any obligation on the Respondent. Implicit in the theory that premises must be kept reasonably safe for a business visitor is the proposition that the person responsible for the dangerous condition must own, lease or control

the premises and have the authority to extend an invitation to the party injured for the purposes for which the visit is being made. In the instant case, the deceased at the time of his injury was on Utah's land at Utah's invitation. Certainly the Respondent did not have the right to hold out any invitation to him to go on his employer's land; nor is it asserted that it did so directly or indirectly. Protection afforded by the status of invitee can be created only by the owner of the land or one charged with the responsibility of maintaining the premises for those rightfully thereon, and here the Respondent is not in the class of an invitor.

There are no allegations that Respondent had any authority to determine when and where the deceased would work, the area where ore would be dumped, the position on the dump where the load would be dropped, and the area from which the ore would be removed each day, or to direct the movement of Utah's vehicles. While it is alleged that Respondent had engineers somewhere in Southern Utah, it is not averred that they were employed on the property involved and neither is it alleged that they performed any duties for Utah. There are no facts stated which show they had any reason or duty to travel to Utah's land and there to inspect that corporation's premises, and direct it to take any action to render the premises safe. There is no allegation that they had any right or power to interfere with the directions Utah gave its employees to operate in any specific manner or to work in specific places. In the absence of averments showing to the contrary for the Court to hold otherwise would be to take management and control

away from the officers, directors and managers of Utah and place those responsibilities on Respondent.

Finally, in regards to this aspect of the case, Appellants do allege that Respondent owned the ore which was stored on Low Grade Dump #8, and for the purposes of this appeal we must assume that to be the case. However, that does not establish that the owner is liable for any injuries arising out of its storage. Surely it follows as a matter of law that when the ore no longer was a part of the land, it became personal property, and when it was hauled beyond the boundaries of Respondent's claim, Utah was solely responsible for the manner in which it was handled.

These are the relevant allegations in the Complaint which bring the last proposition into issue:

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